October 13, 2005

For Immediate Release—Contact: Richard Cohen of DRC:  228-0432(O) 225-4036(H)

US DEPT OF EDUCATION ORDERS STATE DOE TO PAY BACK $441,167 (with interest) FOR ILLEGAL DIVERSION OF FEDERAL SPECIAL EDUCATION FUNDS

The Federal Department of Education ordered the New Hampshire Department of Education to return $441,167 with interest. A New Hampshire Department of Education (NHDOE) official last week disclosed to the special education state advisory committee the federal directive, taken in response to the state’s illegal diversion of money intended for children with disabilities to cover cuts in state funds for testing. The funds were taken from money earmarked for distribution to local school districts in 2005 to improve educational services for children eligible for special education services. 
Attorney Richard Cohen, Executive Director of the Disabilities Rights Center, had warned state officials that the diversion would violate federal law, but the Joint Fiscal Committee of the Legislature (JFC), former Governor Benson and the Executive Council approved a January 2004 request by the former Commissioner of Education, Nicholas Donohue to use the special education funds to pay for the administration of the state wide NHEIAP assessments.  The special education funds were used to fund a gap in the testing budget after the Legislature and Governor budgeted only one dollar for the required testing.
Cohen subsequently requested a ruling from the Federal Department of Education about the legality of the state’s action. Stephanie Lee, Director of the special education section of the Federal Department, issued a letter on November 10, 2004 (attached) stating that sliver grant funds “must be distributed” to school districts and “are not available to be used by the State for a State-level activity.” An explanation was therefore requested from the NHDOE on precisely how the sliver grant funds were used.  
In a December 27, 2004 response (attached), NHDOE official Virginia Irwin, acknowledged that the funds were used for state-level activities in the training of teachers to prepare students to take the state NHEIAPs assessments.  However she argued that this activity improved the capacity of schools and thus met “both the spirit and the letter of the law.”
The Federal Department rejected Irwin’s explanation, and issued the recovery determination in a May 24, 2005 letter (attached). In his ruling, John Hager, Assistant Secretary of the Office of Special Education and Rehabilitation Services, wrote:

The State’s violation of the 34 CFR  §300.622 requirements represents a substantial harm to the Federal interest in ensuring that Federal funds are appropriately distributed to [school districts] in accordance with statutory and regulatory requirements.  Moreover, because these funds were not subgranted to [school districts]  and could not, as required by IDEA-B, be used by those LEAs to provide or support the provision of special education and related services to students with disabilities, we conclude that no programmatic services of value were obtained.  Because $441,167.00 of IDEA-B funds were not, as required by applicable statutory and regulatory requirements, subgranted to LEAs but, instead, were retained and used by the State to meet a State goal, we conclude that the State of New Hampshire must refund to the Department the total amount of $441,167.00.

Although the state had 60 days to appeal the order, NHDOE, now headed by Commissioner Lyonel Tracey, opted not to appeal and has agreed to a payment schedule to repay the nearly half million dollars to the federal government.(See attached 7/11/05 lertter.)
Cohen expressed regret that the federal government did not order NHDOE to distribute $441,167 in state funds to school districts as it should have in the first place.  
“Given the tight budgets in our school districts and the need for improvement in this area, ideally the state should have been be required to give the money to school districts,” Cohen said, adding, “I hope this action by the federal government will make officials pay closer attention in the future to the law and its purpose. In this case, children, school districts and the taxpayers all lost out.”
Note:  If you would like the press release electronically, please email bethk@drcnh.org.
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